St. Charles Parish	Planning Board of Commissioners	January 6, 2011
	Minutes
CALL TO ORDER
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

MEMBERS PRESENT:	Dolores Pierre, Stanley Foster, Billy Booth, Dick Gibbs, Scott Galliano, Neal Clulee, Joshua Johnson
MEMBERS ABSENT:	None
ALSO PRESENT:	Kim Marousek, Earl Matherne, Steve Romano, Marny Stein and Donya Folse of the Planning Department; Larry Cochran, Council ex-officio; Pat O’Malley, School Board Representative

Mr. Booth:  The first item on our agenda tonight PZR-2010-17 is a request to withdraw this by the applicant Cypress Land Developments, LLC for a change in zoning district from R-1M to C-3 at 13801 Old Spanish Trail, (Hwy. 631), Boutte. Council District 4.

Mr. Booth:  Next we have PZHO-2011-01 requested by Lyle B. Ragas, Jr. for special permission to operate the following home occupation – “Lyle the Crocodile Air Conditioning” – an ac and heating service company.  The home occupation will be at 459 Pine Street, Norco. Zoning District R-1A. Council District 6.  

Ms. Stein:  Thank you Mr. Chair.  Mr. Ragas completed and application to operate Lyle the Crocodile Air Conditioning at his home at 459 Pine Street in Norco in November.  The application appears before the Planning and Zoning Commission because of the need for licensing by the State Licensing Board for Contractors. The applicant has been advised that issuance of a Home Occupation permit does not negate restrictive covenants for a subdivision when they exist.  Site inspection on December 17, 2010 revealed no apparent code violations and no complaints or violations are on file.  The proposed business appears to meet the general parameters of the home occupation regulations. The Department recommends approval.  

Mr. Booth:  Thank you ma’am.  This will be a public hearing for PZHO-2011-01 requested by Mr. Lyle Ragas for Lyle the Crocodile Air Conditioning.  Is there anyone here to speak in favor of this particular application please step forward?

Lyle Ragas, Lyle the Crocodile.  I just want to start a small business and run it out of my home.  I appreciate your approval.

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else here to speak on this particular application, please step forward?  Anyone here to oppose this application, please step forward?  Seeing none the public hearing is closed on this matter.  Any questions or discussion from the Commission.

Mr. Johnson:  Mr. Chairman I’d like to just make a comment for the record, no opposition. I got an email from Mr. Sal Digiralamo, he lives on Oak Street and he says that he has no problem with it and I just ask for everyone’s approval.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Sir.  Anyone else, any discussion?  If not, we’ll cast our vote please.

YEAS:		Johnson, Clulee, Galliano, Gibbs, Booth, Foster, Pierre
NAYS:	None
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That passes unanimously with all members present.

Ms. Marousek:  I just want the applicant know that he needs to attend the January 24th Council meeting for another public hearing on this matter.

Mr. Booth:  Mr. Lyle, on the 24th of this month you need to be at the Council meeting and they’ll need to approve this also. So if you would show up there and just give them a couple of words like you did here and it should go smooth for you Sir.

Mr. Booth:  Next item on our agenda tonight is PZHO-2011-02 requested by Craig Connor, Jr. for special permission to operate the following home occupation – “Sparkles Mobile Detailing” a mobile automobile detailing business.  The home occupation will be at 89C Carriage Lane, Destrehan. Zoning District R-3. Council District 3.
Ms. Stein:  Mr. Connor began an application to use his residence as the office for Sparkles Mobile Detailing in 2009.  In order to permit any kind of exterior vehicle washing activity, an “Exterior Vehicle Wash Wastewater General Permit” is required for compliance with the Louisiana Pollutant Discharge Elimination System enforced by the Department of Environmental Quality.  The request appears before the Commission because of this requirement.

Mr. Connor received his LPDES permit on November 25, 2009.  He is required to report the waste discharges to DEQ and renew that permit annually. He went through the public hearing process and obtained a Zoning Compliance for the business at 93 Carriage Lane Unit D.  Soon after, renovation work was needed in that unit, so Mr. Connors moved two buildings down.  Home occupation permits are not transferrable by location, so the only recourse was to repeat the full process for the new address.  

At the time of writing this report, staff awaits information from LA DEQ regarding the process for updating the address on the Exterior Vehicle Wash Wastewater Permit. 

Site inspection on December 17 revealed no apparent code violations; no complaints or code violations are on file.  The proposed business appears to meet the general parameters of the home occupation regulations.  We ask that you approve this and get them moving forward.

Mr. Booth:  this is a public hearing for PZHO-2011-02 for Mr. Connor for his home occupation for his detailing business. Anyone here to speak in favor of this particular application please step forward?  Please state your name and address for the record.  

Jackie Dano and I also live at 89 Carriage Lane Apt. C. Craig’s not here, we’re trying to get the business started. The air conditioning was leaking in the middle of summer so we had to move over to the next apartment complex and we’re just trying to get it started.  

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else to speak in favor of this application please step forward?  Anyone opposing this application, please step forward?  Seeing none the public hearing is closed on this matter.  Any Commission discussion? Call for the vote.

YEAS:		Johnson, Clulee, Galliano, Gibbs, Booth, Foster, Pierre
NAYS:	None
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That passes unanimously with all members present.
 
Mr. Booth:  Next on the agenda we have PZHO-2011-03 requested by Leonel A. Carbajal for special permission to operate the following home occupation – “L & H Renovation” - commercial and residential construction.  The home occupation will be at 502 Steve Street, St. Rose.  Zoning District R-1A. Council District 5.

Ms. Stein:  Mr. Carbajal completed an application to use 502 Steve Street as a home office for his home renovation business on December 10th.  The application appears before the Commission because of the need for licensing by State Licensing Board for Contractors if the cost of labor and materials for any job exceeds $7,500.

Site inspection revealed no apparent code violations, and no complaints or code violations are on file.  The applicant has been advised that issuance of a Home Occupation permit does not negate restrictive covenants.  The proposed business appears to meet the general parameters of the home occupation regulations.  The Department recommends approval. 

Mr. Booth:  This is a public hearing for PZHO-2011-03 for the L&H Renovation home occupation license.  Anyone here to speak in favor of this particular application, please step forward?  If you would state your name and address for the record.

Heidi Carbajal, 502 Steve Street, St. Rose. 

Mr. Booth: What do you plan to do there?

Ms. Carbajal:  We’re planning to do renovations, homes more than anything. My husband does construction renovating like sheet rock and basic remodeling.  

Mr. Booth:  The home will be just be used as an office?

Ms. Carbajal:  Correct.

Mr. Booth:  So there won’t be any equipment there.

Ms. Carbajal:  No.

Mr. Booth:  No supplies stored there?

Ms. Carbajal:  No.

Mr. Booth:  Ok, thank you.

Ms. Carbajal:  Thank you. 

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else to speak in favor of this particular application?  Anyone to speak in opposition to this particular application?  Seeing none the public hearing is closed.  Any Commission discussion?  Please cast your vote.

YEAS:		Johnson, Clulee, Galliano, Gibbs, Booth, Foster, Pierre
NAYS:	None
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That passes unanimously with all members present. The three items that we’ve voted on so far, all of those will go before the Council on the 24th of this month so all of you need to be there and make sure that you have something to present to the Council for a positive vote.

Mr. Booth:  The next item on our agenda is PZSPU-2011-01 requested by Norbert Green for a special permit to construct a single family residence in a C-1 zoning district at 920 Paul Maillard Road, Luling.  Council District 2

Mr. Romano:  Mr. Chairman I would like to correct a typo, it’s actually 928 Paul Maillard Road, I apologize for the typo. The subject of the application is actually 928, not 920.  As you stated it’s a special permit use to construct a home on a lot zoned CR-1. The lot is approximately 4,000 square feet but is in single and separate ownership. Because the submitted site plan shows two sides of the proposed home exceeding the minimum setbacks, the building footprint is less intensive than what would be permitted.

Land use development pattern within the CR-1 zone along the side lot lines have trended toward residential, albeit primarily mobile homes. Special Permit Use approval would be directly compatible with uses on abutting or nearby sites and would also provide a less intensive land use than what is permitted under current zoning. And because a church is situated across Paul Maillard Road from the site, there are no conflicts with commercial uses that could occur. No other conflicts with special permit criteria are evident. The Department recommends approval.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Sir.  This is a public hearing for Mr. Norbert Green for his property at 928 Paul Maillard Road for single family residence on CR-1 zoning.  Anyone here to speak in favor of that particular application, please step forward.  Is Mr. Green here? Please state your name and address for the record please.

Norbert Green, I’m wishing to construct a single family home there. The numbers as you know are fickle, we’re twisting them around, but I found out that I’m at 928 now.  Nevertheless, we wish to build a home comparable to what’s in the area.

Mr. Booth:  Alright Sir, thank you very much.  Anyone else here to speak in favor of this application?  Anyone to oppose this application?  Hearing none the public hearing is closed.  Any Commission questions or discussion?  Let’s call for the vote.

YEAS:		Johnson, Clulee, Galliano, Gibbs, Booth, Foster, Pierre
NAYS:	None
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That passes unanimously with all members of the Commission here.  Thank you Mr. Green, that shouldn’t be a problem.

Mr. Booth:  The next item on our agenda is PZR-2011-01 requested by Herschel Hill, Jr. for a change in zoning classification from R-1AM to R-1M at Lots 5, 6 & 7, (proposed address 160 Blueberry Hill), Boutte. Council District 1.  

Mr. Romano:  This request is to rezone 3 lots from R-1AM into R-1M for the purpose of establishing a 3 or 4 pad RV park on the site. The site is situated on a non-public and unpaved street and backs up to an existing residential neighborhood. The Zoning Ordinance allows RV Park sites on land of less than an acre if approved as a special permit by the Commission. The applicant has filed PZSPU-2011-02.

It is the conclusion of the Department that this application does not meet any of the three criteria for rezoning.

Existing land use allows for site-built or mobile home development on the site. The site is zoned similarly to the surrounding zoning and land uses hence not denying the applicant reasonable ability to use the land. Rezoning to allow RVs or camper trailers would put the site out of character with the abutting properties.  These are the considerations of the first criteria for rezoning to be met. This application does not. 

The site is situated on a non-public an unimproved road without public services. Rezoning approval would result in 3 or 4 RVs or camper trailers to exist on the site. Water and sewer would serve a site of approximately 10,000 square feet that could potentially have more than 4 RVs or campers whereas in R-1A or even current R-1AM zoning, no more than 3 residential uses could exist due to the land area. Because there are no assurances that uses would be limited to this number, there is no assurance that public facilities would not be overburdened. Finally, being that abutting land uses are residential in character, allowing RVs or campers to exist next door this would be a conflict in land uses. All of these are considerations of the second criteria, which this application does not meet.  

Rezoning the site to R-1M would create a spot zone. It would be entirely surrounded by R-1AM zoning. It would allow the property owner to create a conflicting land use in the middle of a residentially zoned area. Therefore, the third criteria is not met. 

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Sir.

Mr. Matherne:  Mr. Chairman if I may?  

Mr. Booth:  Yes.

Mr. Matherne:  A brief explanation on the photograph that posted up top. If you notice the site on that photograph actually shows RV’s on that site.  This is an older photograph it was taken immediately post Katrina. The site in question was used as an RV site post Katrina, as most of you remember they were virtually everywhere post Katrina. The site is vacant at the present, he does not have an RV park on that site, he did post Katrina and that’s what you are seeing on this photograph.  The photograph in your packet shows it as it is today, vacant.  I didn’t want you to think that he was jumping the gun and doing it.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Sir.  This is a public hearing for PZSPU-2011-02 Mr. Herschell Hills request to have an RV park on Lots 5, 6, and 7 Blueberry Hill in Boutte.  Anyone here to speak in favor of this application please step forward? Please state your name and address for the record.

Herschell Hills, Boutte, La. That is the area that I’m trying to get put back into service and I appreciate if you would approve this.

Mr. Booth:  Ok sir.  Anyone else of this application?  Is there anyone here opposing this application, please step forward and state your name and address for the record please.

Emelda Turner, currently residing at 126 Turner Lane. I’m not really opposing him putting trailers or mobile home or RV’s. My problem is my family owns the property where Blueberry Hill connects but what it is, years ago when they sold the property to the different property owners we established to those property owners that the Turners weren’t in favor of opening the street up, because right now we have a fence there and my only concern is that I don’t want anybody to come back and say we want to force you to open your property up or whatever because my daughter lives there with my grandchildren and she lives right at the edge of the property and I don’t want a street there.  We already have a street coming from Turner to go to Boutte Estates and we don’t want another street coming off of Blueberry Hill and that’s my only concern that if a mobile home is put there or if someone put mobile homes there which I talked to Mr. Hill, I told him what my position is, that we’re not going to open that street up because my family or my grandchildren would not have anywhere to play. So if they can do it, I don’t know of any laws that would come back and say that you have to open this street up because we have so many people living here, well then I’m opposing it.

Mr. Clulee:  Ms. Turner I was out there today and went down Turner and I went all the way around and I went Blueberry and as Mr. Romano said, I think it’s private property so I don’t think anybody could force you to open it up.

Ms. Turner:  That’s my concern.  If you were out there today you saw the trailer that was there, there are 2 mobile homes there and my daughter is on the end. Then we have the fence there to keep anyone from going in and out there because we had a problem because at one time it was like a private drive and it was open, but we had such a problem with people coming through so fast that we ended up calling the fence company to come and put a fence up to make sure that my grandkids wouldn’t be run over.

Mr. Clulee:  Yes ma’am.

Ms. Turner:  That’s my main concern.

Mr. Clulee:  I think Mr. Hill will access from Blueberry.

Ms. Turner:  As long as that is established because that’s my concern.

Mr. Clulee:  Thank you.

Mr. Foster:  I have a question for Earl.  You said that there were trailers there before?  

Mr. Matherne:  Post Katrina his site was identified by FEMA, I think 6 sites were installed, it was allowed under the emergency provision that we had immediately post Katrina.  When that ended, Mr. Hill did take the RV’s off the site, he’s shown interest in doing it again, so that’s where we are tonight.

Mr. Foster:  There weren’t any problems when he had the trailer there before were there?  

Mr. Matherne:  Not that I’m aware of.  

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else to oppose this application?  
Phyllis Smith, 161 South Kinler Street, Boutte. I live in Harlem Heights Subdivision, I have a 19 year old daughter, a 17 year old daughter  and a 7 year old son. I live in a community of children.  This RV park will be in my back yard. Post Katrina I had nothing but problems, I spoke with Mr. Hill about it. The people that lived there were always cursing or something.  Every tenant he put there, I had a problem with them.  The last one, I have a pool, I had rocks, they were swimming in my pool, I have a 6 ft. fence, so I had a lot of people just coming on my property doing whatever.  My biggest concern is if he puts this RV park there, we’re going to have anybody coming into our neighborhood.  We already have issues in our neighborhood with people moving into trailers.  I had a fire one night, I came out and the people that just moved there burned a fire in the middle of the street.  We want our community to say safe.  If you put this RV park in here, there is no way that Herschell’s going to tell me, I’m going to scan the people that’s coming in here because we have 2 mobile homes right now that one of them, the guy they always having someone in and out and every time we get somebody, we got issues. So I’m asking that we not let this go through for the safety of our kids. I have 3 other letters from some other people that live in the neighborhood that is not for it.  The ones that I spoke to, because I was the only that got a certified letter and I went around asking did they get a letter, nobody else got a letter.  So I made copies and the ones that I caught got the letter and they are not happy with this. I’m here and I have my husband with me and I spoke with Rev. Bolden who is a Pastor and I went to him and I just can’t believe that someone will let this go on and this is directly in the back of me.  I’m not for this at all. Do you need to see these letters that were written by the people in the neighborhood?

Mr. Booth:  Give them to Ms. Stein, thank you.

Mitchell Bolden, 143 South Kinler.  This is about 150 ft. from where I live and I’ve been there since 1981 and I’ve never had a problem there. 

Hebert Brown, 173 Mandy Drive, Avondale, but I have property on this street. They’ve always had trailers there.

Stanley Hebert, 16520 Hwy. 90, Des Allemands.  Mr. Hill is a friend of mine.  I used to do nuisance, grass cutting for the parish and the reason I know a little bit about this property is I went to cut a lot at 106 Blueberry Hill in Boutte which is right in the curve of the property.  When I got the work order to do it, there is so much trash on the property that I couldn’t cut the grass.  I mean I couldn’t put a machine on it or anything else.  I know that Planning & Zoning are doing their best, their hands are tied with trying to get people to clean their properties and stuff, but after talking to Mr. Hill, to me it would seem as though it would be better if you had more people living on the property where you would have people passing from time to time that would stop this dumping on properties like this.  There are other properties in the parish that you see a lot of trash on and I know that Planning & Zoning is doing their job, I’m friends with all of them and I guess you have to go through all kinds of hoops to get people to clean up their property.  I just don’t see where it’s fair for this man to keep his property up and is forced to pay taxes and to keep it up where he can make some money off of it and try to get ahead and I just think that it would be better if you had people constantly passing on the road and it would stop the people from dumping trash.  I went there this evening just to make sure and there’s more trash now, then back in September when I went to try and cut this lot, a lot more trash, to me it’s ugly and there’s another spot on the same road that I hadn’t seen trash before and there’s trash now. I talked to one of the neighbors that’s there pretty much during the day time and he says he witnessed somebody dumping trash, he called the parish and I don’t know if they did anything about it, but he reported their license number and everything. I just wish you would consider it or find a way to work with Mr. Hill so he can develop his property.

Letitia Mott, 116 Mott Street, Des Allemands.  I have property right next to Mr. Herschell Hill, it would have been Lots 3 and 4, Blueberry Hill. I purchased a mobile home and put on the property but before I purchased the mobile home Planning & Zoning had me to resubdivide the property because I also have property in the Harlem Heights subdivision which is 175 S. Kinler Street. I lived at 175 S. Kinler.  I moved out of that subdivision in ’97 and Mr. Hill was pretty much behind me, he always kept the property up nice, neat and clean and I visit the property where my mobile home is on 175 S. Kinler, when the FEMA trailers were there, everything was nice and neat.  I never had any problems with any break ins or anything like that.  My problem is that I purchased the property on Blueberry Hill and Planning & Zoning had me to resubdivide the property making it all into one property so now that property is 175 A S. Kinler Street and the problem that I’m having with it is once I jumped through hoops, this is a stack of stuff, that Planning & Zoning asked me to do and spent tons and tons of money to get everything done, right when they got ready to hand me my permit to put my mobile home on it, they said by the way sign here, you can get the permit, but you can’t rent the property, it’s on a non rental property only.  So the problem that I have is sure I would love for Mr. Hill to be able to make money off of his investment, but would it be fair to me to have property right next to him and not be able to rent my property and he be able to rent his.  I think the ordinance needs to be changed, not blocking him, he proved to me that he can handle this RV park, I never had any problems.  I just don’t think it would be fair for him to be able to make money off of his property and I can’t.  My property is no longer Blueberry Hill, it’s 175A S. Kinler Street.  I resubdivided into one property. So to put that with Blueberry Hill and keep me from making money off of my property, I don’t think that it’s fair and I can’t blame Mr. Hill for that.  I just think that the ordinance or something needs to be changed.  The problem with Blueberry Hill, I don’t know what’s the problem back there, but it seems that they don’t want us to be able to do anything with our property after we’ve invested money into it, they do everything that they can do to block you to do what you need to do.  I’m telling you, this packet is stacked with everything that they asked me to do. I think they almost wanted me to say you know what, forget it, but I just kept on with it, because I had already purchased the property.  Before I purchased the property, I went to Planning & Zoning and asked them will I be able to put something there.  Mr. Matherne told me that I would have to go to the Clerk’s office and get a copy of my deed and a copy of the deed of the property that I wish to purchase.  He averaged up the square footage and he said no problem, but you are going to need to do this, this, this and this.  Never not once did they ever tell me that it would be on a non rental basis only until right when they got ready to hand me my permit.

Mr. Clulee:  Ms. Mott, how long ago did you deal with this?  

Ms. Mott:  6 months ago.

Mr. Clulee:  Did that come in front of us or was it handled by the Departments.

Ms. Mott:  Simply by them.  They said that VJ St. Pierre had to sign off on it and everything.

Ms. Marousek:  It was an administrative resubdivision.

Mr. Clulee:  Administrative resub?  And he didn’t sign off on it?

Ms. Marousek:  Yes he did.

Ms. Mott:  Yes he signed off on everything.

Mr. Clulee: Then you were told…

Ms. Mott:  Right when they got ready to hand me the permit, after I had jumped through all of those hoops, then they said oh by the way, sign here, it’s going to be on a non rental basis only. I was like what? No one told me this when I came here to first find out if I could put anything back there because there are such restrictions with Blueberry Hill, no one told me that.  But right when they got ready to hand me the permit, that’s when they slapped that in my face.

Mr. Clulee:  Yes ma’am.  Mr. Matherne can we take another look at this possibly?

Mr. Matherne:  The problem is as she stated, she had frontage on Blueberry Hill but as you know, Blueberry Hill is unimproved, in order to have placed the trailer on the site on Blueberry Hill without resubdividing it, it would have cost her $75 per foot on Blueberry Hill and as discussed at the time that wasn’t a practical alternative.  The only practical alternative to even permit a mobile home at all which I will admit, I thought was for her daughter at the time, now I don’t recall if she told me that or if that’s the impression I got, was that the only practical alternative to do it without costing her $75 a linear foot which would have been about $7500, was to subdivide it into frontage she already had.  I remember the day very clearly, we were both very pleased that we were going to be able to put that trailer there.  I did not know that it was for a rental until I found out that she was upset about it when we talked about this case.

Mr. Clulee:  If there is any possibility in the future that we can help this lady, it would be appreciated.

Mr. Matherne:  Just so you know, it’s not a restriction on Blueberry Hill, not at all.  There’s a limitation on Blueberry Hill and the fact that the improvements are not done, but that restriction that she’s talking about actually says for family members on a non rental basis, that is in the R-1AM zoning district, so all the R-1AM.

Mr. Clulee:  I understand. Thank you Mr. Matherne.

Ms. Mott:  Then I have the understanding that whoever would live in that mobile home would not access it from Blueberry Hill.  I had to make sure that I had enough space that they would come from Harlem Heights Subdivision, South Kinler.  

Mr. Clulee: What’s confusing to us is when you talk about Turner and Blueberry Hill, Blueberry Hill is not parish, it’s private, right?

Ms. Turner:  I home one day and someone came and said that they were measuring off property off of Blueberry Hill and when they measured the property off, the lady came and said oh your daughter is on Blueberry Hill, she’s on somebody else’s property.  I said that’s not true, because we had our property surveyed and I have paperwork to back up the survey, which I have the fence up.  Mr. Clulee you said you were out there so you saw the fence.  When the trailer was put there evidently, I don’t know what happened, but some kind of way this property is so messed up with lots and when these people purchased the property, it was already like that.

Mr. Clulee:  Ms. Turner, the Board doesn’t get involved in the property line disputes, that would be the attorneys, but what I’m looking at through all of this and like I said I did go out there.  It looks like Blueberry Hill is private and it looks like some of Turner would be private too.

Ms. Turner:  Turner is private.

Mr. Clulee:  Then if it’s an administrative resub that wasn’t in front of us for Ms. Mott. That’s all I have Mr. Chairman.

Ms. Mott: You said that Blueberry Hill is private and so is Turner, but I’m no longer considered Blueberry Hill.  My property now is 175 South Kinler Street.  I can’t understand now why because there is rental property on South Kinler Street, so why now am I restricted to be able to rent my mobile home because I’m no longer Blueberry Hill.

Mr. Clulee:  I feel for you Ms. Mott and I’m going to try to get over this Mr. Hill subject tonight first and then we’ll deal with that.

Phyllis Smith, 161 South Kinler Street.  I purchased my house in ’87 and when I purchased this house, I went in the front door and went to the back door and the lady said don’t worry about those trailers, they are going to be moved.  I turned to her and I said I’m not worrying about those trailers, I’m trying to see about buying this house. Well the trailers left one by one. One trailer stayed back there and it didn’t bother me, but when that trailer stayed back there because my water was being stolen and I kept having a high water bill and I said this water shouldn’t be this high, so I turned my main meter off because the water heater was leaking and I left.  Apparently someone was trying to take water when I wasn’t home and my neighbor down the street said that you know your water is on? I had a lake, so when I would leave my house, they were stealing my water.  I have had my house broken into once, I’ve had my car broken into 3 times.  There is a gap between my house and Pamela Shaw. They walk through there all night. These people don’t respect. I’m standing outside talking to a lady about this issue, a young guy come from a trailer that’s back there and he just walked through, didn’t ask could he pass or nothing, he just walked through.  I’m hoping you don’t vote for this because I’m worried about my teenage daughters, that sometimes have to be home by herself because she’s in college and right now they are on break.  She’s going to be in that house by herself.  The people walk all day long.  These kids get off at a stop sign, they do not get off of the bus at their house because the bus don’t have a turn around.  It’s a long enough street, these are kids.  I just don’t see how we can put a RV and worry about who is coming into our neighborhood.  Now when Herschel first starting talking about it, he told me that he would never be able to do anything with the property.  I’m asking you as a Board to feel for me. Now if he puts a mobile home for one person to live in and know who his tenant is, that is something different, but RV, I’m not for that at all and I hope that we can get these letters by these people because they signed them. Thank you.

Mr. Clulee:  We’ve had people to speak for and against and I call for the vote.

Mr. Booth:  We have someone else to speak, state your name and address for the record Sir.

Paul Hogan, 222 Down the Bayou Road, Des Allemands. I’m an adjacent property owner to this property and I’m opposed to the rezoning because it meets the requirements of a spot zoning.  It’s a mill of a residential area there’s already a house on that street and to put an RV park down in the middle of a subdivision that already has a house is the wrong thing to do and I ask that you all don’t approve this.

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else to speak on this matter?  

(unknown speaker) I own property on Blueberry Hill.  It appears to me that everybody is all confused about who is doing what and what’s going on here.  It appears to me that if we had people in the area, most of this confusion could be all over.  It appears to me what’s going on here, we are all looking at who’s going to make money, let’s build the area.  If we build that area, we can stop having this stuff we’re mumbo jumbling (???) about. I feel to believe that I would go for it and I wish you would too.

Mr. Clulee:  Call for the vote Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Booth:  The public hearing is now closed.  Let’s call for the vote.

Mr. Foster:  I have a question.  Mr. Hill, who maintains this street? The street that leads to where you are going to put this RV park, who maintains that private road?

Mr. Hill: I’ve been maintaining it.  I get a guy to come and dozed the road and everything that needs to be done, I maintain that.  I have all the servitudes back there, everything is ready to go.

Mr. Foster:  The access across the property that the lady was speaking of, as far as people crossing it, is that just open property?

Mr. Hill:  There’s about a 3 ft. gap, but if necessary, I’ll put a fence there.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Sir.  I think we are ready for the vote.

YEAS:		Clulee, Johnson, Booth, Gibbs, Pierre
NAYS:	Foster, Galliano
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That particular issue passes for tonight.  That will also go to the Council on the 24th. So Mr. Hill you need to be at the Council on the 24th of this month.

Mr. Hill:  Thank you.

Mr. Booth:  We have one more issue with Mr. Hill. PZSPU-2011-02 requested by Herschel Hill, Jr. for a special permit to operate a RV park on Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blueberry Hill, Boutte, La, proposed address 160 Blueberry Hill.  The request requires waivers to the following requirements:  minimum lots size of 1 acre; to construct a RV park without approved access per Parish Subdivision regulations; without the required recreation area. Zoning R-1AM (proposed Zoning R-1M) Council District 1.

Mr. Romano:  The reason that this is before you is because RV parks in this zoning you have to have a minimum of 1 acre so if you want to do an RV park on at least ½ acre it requires a special permit use, that’s why it’s before you this evening.  As stated in the previous report, the site is situated on a private, unpaved street and consists of 3 lots with a total area of 10,123.5 square feet. The applicant intends to place 3 or more RVs or campers on the site if approved. There is no site plan submitted that indicates the installations required such as a recreation area, parking area and pads for RVs or campers. Therefore, the applicant will need to obtain approval of a waiver to the land area from one half acre to 10,123.5 square feet, a waiver to the requirement for approved access per Parish Subdivision regulations, and without the required recreation area. There’s a schematic on page 30 and it shows, it looks like you put up to 6 RV’s on the site and meet all the required setbacks. 

In order to receive a recommendation for approval a Special Permit request must meet a majority of the evaluation criteria listed above. This application fails 5 of 8 criteria.

The Comprehensive Land Use Specifications for the community of Boutte is to “Maintain the existing land use mix, protect existing residential uses and encourage commercial and light industrial development.” Because development of a site to allow either RVs or campers to abut single family residential use is a direct conflict in land uses, considerations of both criteria a and criteria b, which are not met. 

Blueberry Hill Street is an unimproved, unpaved, dead end street. Therefore, movements to and from the site will come from one direction and consist of turnarounds for ingress and egress. This could be considered a compromise in the safety and convenience of vehicular and pedestrian circulation in the vicinity, a consideration of criteria d, which is not met. 

The minimum size for land zoned R-1M is an acre. Special permit approval allows development on a half-acre. However, this does not take into account the requirement for ancillary installations that are supposed to be situated. This application seeks to make the site even smaller than what a special permit allows. Therefore, the difficulty to install adequate off-street parking and loading facilities increases accordingly. These are the considerations of criteria f, which this application does not meet. 

Approval of this special permit with the requested waivers will have the following result: a 10,123.5 square foot site with 3 or more RVs or campers to abut a residential area and not enough room to install the required recreation area. It will front on a non paved dead end street. This does not conform to criteria g.: “conformity with the objectives of these regulations and the general purposes of the zone in which the site is located.”

Approval of the Special Permit Use is contingent upon the rezone being approved by the Council to R-1M. I’d like to add something that wasn’t included in the report. It came from public testimony.  If there is a vote to approve the Special Permit Use, the Department would request that you make that stipulation contingent on the placement of a fence to the rear of the site.  I’m assuming it’s the rear of the site on the Kinler Street side.  The Department recommends denial. 

Mr. Booth:  This is a public hearing for PZSPU-2011-02 Herschell Hill, Jr. for a special permit to operate this RV park that’s been in question tonight at 160 Blueberry Hill.  Waivers for the size and also waivers for recreation and the parish subdivision regulations.  Anyone to speak in favor of this particular application, please step forward.  Mr. Hill would you please state your name and address once more for the record.

Herschell Hill, Boutte, La. I’m in favor of this project and I wish that you all would approve it.

Mr. Clulee:  Mr. Hill, you heard Mr. Romano say about a fence, you wouldn’t have a problem putting up a fence behind there? 

Mr. Hill:  No Sir, the lady with the complaint, Ms. Phyllis, she have a fence already there, Ms. Mott has a fence I would just have to join to fences. 

Mr. Clulee:  The other question, on Blueberry, that fairly new house…

Mr. Hill:  That’s. Ms. Coleman.

Mr. Clulee:  She’s not here tonight?

Mr. Hill:  No Sir.

Mr. Clulee:  She didn’t object to this, right?

Mr. Hill:  No Sir, in fact I even fixed the driveway in front on her on that road.

Mr. Clulee: Thank you.

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else here to speak in favor?  Anyone to oppose this particular item please step forward?  For the record please state your name and address once more please.

Emelda Turner, 126 Turner Lane.  Again my concern is I don’t have a problem with it being open, but I just want everybody to know that where Blueberry Hill is a dead end is where our property begins and we’re not opening a street.

Mr. Booth:  Yes ma’am.  As I understand, there is a fence there and the fence should remain.  Anyone else would like to speak in opposition?  Name and address.

Patrick O’Malley, 34 East Levert Drive, Luling.  On this particular issue, my concern is for public school transportation.  If that street is not going to end, will it be paved to provide for a cul-de-sac and the other question that I have that maybe Mr. Hill could answer for me, as I understand a couple different uses of RV park one is for weekend and weekly camping, but the other is for contracted laborers that might stay for a while and if so, my concern would be that there may be children there that do need to attend school and we would be required to provide transportation and we have limitations on that road. So I don’t know if there is a limit that they can stay so many nights and they’ve got to go or what.

Mr. Hill:  The trailers that I’m speaking about are contractors that are doing work in the parish, it’s going to be daily or weekly.  It’s not anything permanent.  They just want a place to go when they are working at the nuclear plant or Dow just temporarily.  There are no kids involved, it’s just the workers.

Mr. O’Malley:  My concern would still be that there is no law preventing bringing children with you.  That could appear and we would have to address it at that time. I apologize to ride in that area, I’m not sure what arrangements are there, which children live on Blueberry that are picked up and how they access.  I know the subdivision requirements for new subdivisions require a certain width and diameter of a cul de sac.

Stanley Hebert, 16520 Hwy. 90, Des Allemands.  I can understand the safety and the school, the issue for the school children.  What I don’t understand from looking at the site of the property, I don’t know what all the lots are zoned for, but for what I understand you can probably put 20 homes or regular trailer back there. Then who’s saying that you have to widen the street? From what I understand, you can put 20-30 I’m just guessing on the street, so you’re still not addressing that problem and that’s what I don’t understand.  It seems as though the law needs to be examined like with the recreation area, the way to by-pass that is to make 4 lots because I know some people that did 4 lots on their property instead of building 5 lots and that’s how they got away from the recreation area.  With this, from what I’m seeing, you can still put either 30 or 20 residences either trailers or homes and you still cannot make those people make a wider street, you can’t make them blacktop it, you can’t make them do nothing, but you still have to give them their permit to put a house or a trailer.  Thank you.

Mr. Clulee:  I think Mr. O’Malley is right, I think Mr. Hebert is right.  When I rode down there, I made that left hand turn on Blueberry, that’s where all that trash is and I think as this property develops, and I’m all for development, I think down the road, if it’s us or whoever, we’re going to have to address later on, where these kids are going to catch the bus.  Right now, I don’t think it comes into play.  

Phyllis Smith, 161 South Kinler Street. I’m opposing, I bought up the safety of our community and I have a question, the 3 letters that I brought, will they be read?  Those people are concerned and they do not want the RV park in the community.

Mr. Booth:  Yes ma’am.

Paul Hogan, 222 Down the Bayou Road, Des Allemands.  Once again I’m the adjacent property owner.  I’m opposed to this special permit use to allow an RV park next to my property, it’s going to hurt my property.  This is a street that has no houses on it.  I might even entertain it myself, but to do that with the houses on it already and violations of my rules and regulations, it’s not the right thing to do.

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else would like to speak tonight?

Herbert Brown, 117 Mandy Drive. I approve for the trailer park because I have land back there and when you came out there today, there’s land and trash there.

Mr. Clulee:  I saw you out there.

Mr. Brown:  My land may go to that. I put a trailer there 5-10 years ago. I don’t know how they say there are no trailers there.  

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else care to speak?  I was just passed the letters that she spoke about.  Mr. Booth read the following into the record:

January 6, 2011 To Whom It May Concern: I’m a homeowner at 169 S. Kinler Street, Boutte, La. This letter is in reference to the RV park they’re trying to put behind my home.  I have a daughter (8 yrs old), a niece (3 yrs old) and 2 nephews (15 and 1) who are at my home daily.  My concerns are for their safety.  When you introduce a RV park to any community, you don’t what unsavory elements you’re bringing in and out.  There’s no accountability for the inhabitants of this type of community.  Also, I’m a stroke victim with paralysis who lives here along with my disabled sister and my elderly mother.  I’m very concerned for our safety and well being also.  So I’m asking you the St. Charles Parish Council to please consider the residents on S. Kinler Street by voting no to this RV park. A concerned citizen, Pamela H. Shaw.

January 6, 2011 To Whom It May Concern: I’m against the RV park being placed in my neighborhood because I feel it will bring down the value of our homes and property.  Bringing strangers into the neighborhood will cause friction. As grandmother, I’m concerned about the safety of the children. Please think long and hard about this situation. M. Gray

January 6, 20100 To Whom It May Concern: My name is Debra M. Nelson. I live at 129 South Kinler Street, in Boutte. I’m just finding out about the meeting today and I can’t make it. But me and my husband Leroy Nelson Jr. is totally against the RV park that is up for proposal in our neighborhood. Our neighborhood is not safe as now. And we need not to bring any more stranger in the neighborhood. Please consider our concern. Debra M. Nelson Leroy Nelson, Jr.

Mr. Clulee:  Mr. Chairman, like I said, I took a ride out there, spent quite a bit of time today. There’s a really nice house, fairly new, this is on Blueberry, I’m with Mr. Brown, I think development and people being there, I think it would help, so I’m for this.

Mr. Booth:  We’ll close the public hearing and call for the vote. Also, we’re voting for the stipulation that Mr. Hill needs to close that gap on the fence to secure that entire back area.  If there are any problems with those other fences, you need to shore those up.  Thank you and we’ll vote. 

YEAS:		Clulee, Johnson, Booth, Gibbs, Pierre
NAYS:	Foster, Galliano
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  This particular matter will go before the Council, this is not a final vote tonight, this is a recommendation to the Council and the Council will do whatever it deems fit on the 24th of this month.  All of you need to be at the Council and voice your opinion at the Council meeting and you will get a final vote there.

Mr. Booth:  The next item on our agenda is PZR-2011-02 requested by Peter J. Agnelly for a change in zoning classification from R-1A to R-2 at Lots 8 and ½ of Lot 9, Gassen Subdivision (proposed address 1212 Gassen St.), Luling..  Council District 1

Mr. Romano:  Thank you Mr. Chair.  The applicant is requesting rezoning from R-1AM to R-2 in order to construct a duplex on Lot 8 & a portion of Lot 9 in Gassen Subdivision, in the 1200 block of Gassen Street. The site next to 1213 Gassen Street and is currently vacant. Because the site exists as Lot 8 and a Portion of Lot 9, an administrative resubdivision combining these into a 90 by 105.50 foot lot will need to be completed.  At 9,450 square feet, the proposed lot will exceed both the current R-1AM zoning as well as the requested R-2 zoning.

The Department concludes that this application does not meet any of the three criteria for rezoning.

Existing land use allows for site-built or mobile home development on the site currently. The site is zoned similarly to the surrounding zoning and land uses hence it does not denying the applicant reasonable ability to use the land. Rezoning to allow a duplex would put the site out of character with the abutting properties.  These are the considerations of the first criteria for rezoning to be met, which this application does not meet.

The site is situated in the 1200 block of Gassen Street, the last block. A fairly new residential subdivision, Hidden Oaks, abuts the site to the rear. A recently built house abuts the site on the Hackberry Street side of the site. Pertaining to the second criteria, it could be argued that rezoning a single lot to allow 2 residential uses versus 1 does little to create undo congestion and similar consequences. But rezoning to R-2 would not comply with the general public interest or welfare because it would cause incompatibility with existing land uses. Therefore, this application fails the second criteria.

Rezoning the site to R-2 would create a spot zone because it would be entirely surrounded by R-1AM zoning and single-family residential land uses. Putting a duplex there would allow the property owner to create a conflicting land use in the middle of a single-family residentially zoned area. Under current zoning, the occupants residing in the 1200 block of Gassen Street assume that a single house or mobile home could exist on the site. Rezoning to R-2 would double the land use density. Therefore, the third criteria is not met.  The Department recommends denial.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you Mr. Romano.  This is a public hearing for PZR-2011-02, Peter J. Agnelly for the request for rezoning from R-1AM to R-2 on Lots 8 and ½ of Lot 9 in Gassen Subdivision, 1212 Gassen Street, Luling. Is there anyone to speak in favor of this particular application? Please step to the microphone and state your name and address for the record please.

James Gassen, 1209 Gassen Street. Which is a couple of houses down.  I also own the portion of the lot that is next to him, my family does, plus most of the other land which is on that portion of the street.  I’m not opposed to it, it wouldn’t hurt anything in the neighborhood. The person across the street, Ricky Rousselle, told me he didn’t have a problem with it.  As you may not be aware of, there are a couple of other duplexes on Gassen Street that have been there since the ‘60’s, which blend in without a problem. I recommend that you approve this.

Mr. Clulee:  Your last name again?

Mr. Gassen:  Gassen. 

Mr. Clulee:  Didn’t your family own all of that property at one time?

Mr. Gassen:  Yes Sir, he bought the lot from my uncle.

Mr. Clulee:  Thank you.

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else here to speak in favor, please step forward, state your name and address for the record.

Peter Agnelly, 157 Hall Street. We should include this so I can build a duplex for me and my older brother to live in.

Mr. Booth: Thank you Sir, anyone else to speak in favor? 

Patrick O’Malley, 34 East Levert, Luling.  As a citizen and landowner, a couple of points and I certainly respect the department’s analysis which they are required to go by, also as I heard read in the lot size would actually over compensate with a duplex. It goes above the criteria needed for that.  In my experience as serving on the long term future land use map of the parish, there were some discussions as to mix use areas. I think this is a good balance for reasons stated by Mr. Gassen.  There are some duplexes, the other limitations in this area, the power lines are there, that you may not see on the photo on the map, prohibit this from becoming a massive apartment densely populated area. For one additional person, it seems that you can read it as 200%, but a duplex as intended, owner occupied and the plans call for a structure that’s permanent, certainly exceeds a mobile home or that of an RV park.  I think this is perhaps the ideal or best use of this property. As an investment property owner of rental property, the gems are always those that are based or surrounded by single family dwellings, so I think it would be a wonderful addition.

Mr. Booth:  Thank you.

James Gassen, 1209 Gassen Street. One other point and I don’t know where this came from but R-1A(M) is not correct, even though it’s stated that way and that’s the way it’s zoned, the covenant for the subdivision does not allow mobile homes and when they came into zoning years back, they put it as R-1A(M) for God knows what reason, and there is nowhere else in that area that is R-1A(M) so mobile homes are not allowed on this property and I would fight that tooth and nail.

Mr. Clulee:  Mr. Chairman, further up Gassen Street, I think there is a duplex, and I think there is another one up there too, just to let you know.

Peter Agnelly, 157 Hall Street.  I do have a photo of what I plan to put on there and it’s pretty presentable.  It looks good, it will bring up the value in the neighborhood.  

Mr. Booth:  Anyone else care to speak on this matter?  We have an e-mail that was sent by June Holeman.  December 30, 2010, Dear Mr. Romano,  I am writing in answer to a notification we received from the St. Charles Parish Planning & Zoning Commission stating that Peter J. Agnelly has requested a change in zoning classification from R-1A to R-2 on Lots 8 and ½ of Lot 9 in Gassen Subdivision in Luling, Case #PzR-2011-02. The letter also states that the proposed address is 1212 Gassen Street which I believe is in error. (This lot and ½ is adjacent to my address which is 1213 Gassen Street and, his should be 1215/17 (?) Gassen Street.) I wish to submit my objection to this change of classification for a couple of reasons. First, I built my home in a single residence neighborhood and quite honestly, I like it like that. The face of the neighborhood does change when duplex units enter. Also, we live on a dead end street and, while we do have some turn around traffic, we feel that this would bring increased traffic to the area. Finally, we are not sure what this would do to the value of our property. Because of the above stated reasons, we ask that you consider denying Mr. Agnelly’s request.  Thank you, June Holeman.  The public hearing is now closed. Does the Commission have any discussion?  Ok. We’ll call for the vote.

YEAS:		Pierre, Foster, Booth, Gibbs, Galliano, Clulee, Johnson 
NAYS:	None 
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  And that passes unanimous.  You need to be at the Council meeting on the 24th of this month and explain to them what you want to do and they will have the final approval.

Mr. Booth:  The last item we have tonight is PZO-2011-01 requested by Paul J. Hogan, PE, Councilman, District IV for an ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinances, Appendix C, Section III, Geometric Standards to add H. Mail Box Placement.  

Mr. Hogan:  This is an ordinance to provide some guidance on the placement of mail boxes. As many of you know, when you drive through subdivisions some time, people put them right up against the road, sometimes they build nice brick structures that the mail boxes are in and they are right on the end of the road.  When you are driving down the road, you have to swerve around these boxes.  Also, I have several areas where people are putting their mail boxes in front of other peoples lots rather than in front of their lot. So this provides guidance on where to locate it in relation to your property line and how to set it off of the road.  There is one thing that I would like to add to it, I’d like to add a statement at the end to say that this ordinance shall apply to mail boxes installed in association with the issuance of building permits following the adoption of this ordinance. So that people would know that we are not going to make anybody that have mail boxes up right now, move that mail boxes. This is for any new building permits that are issued, when you put your mail box up, make sure you put it in accordance with this requirement. This would be strictly attached to the building permit to provide notice to the applicants of where to put their boxes.

Mr. Booth:  Mr. Hogan, does the US Postal Service have any regulations on mail boxes?

Mr. Hogan:  they do have regulations, they have to meet their design standards and also they have a requirement that it be setback 12 inches off of the edge of the road. Which some people aren’t doing that. I have areas where they come 8 inches off the road.  I think we should give a range there. The thing is they don’t go out there and enforce their requirement, they tell you where to put it, but nobody is enforcing it.  This will inform the people that don’t know there is a requirement, what they need to set it at.  Right now the only thing is when people go to the post office, particularly on streets that are one way in and one way out, the box can go on either side of the street and if you have a street that you can drive through, you have to go to the post office and ask them what side of the street does the mail boxes go on in a new subdivision.  This addresses where to locate them in any of those conditions.  

Mr. Clulee: Don’t you all have regulations?

Mr. Matherne: No the parish doesn’t. 

Mr. Clulee:  This is in the form of an ordinance.

Mr. Matherne:  This would be our first parish ordinance regulating the placement of a mail box.

Mr. Clulee:  the government have their regulations.

Mr. Matherne:  Yes.

Mr. Clulee:  The ordinance is the Parish Council makes those ordinances.  So this would have to go to the Council.

Mr. Matherne:  We did have a couple of questions or comments.  First of all, I did look it up, the federal regulation from both the shoulder and or the back of the curb, the federal regulation is 6-8 inches.  So if the 6-8, then we would pass 8-12, you would have to be exactly 8 inches. It would be my recommendation that we conform with the federal reg.  I’m sure this was an oversight, but at the top where it says mail boxes shall only be allowed on parish right of ways and servitudes, I’m assuming we don’t want to preclude state roads. You still should be able to put your mail box on a state road.  We did have a question, there are 2 situations where we saw it didn’t address it, lots with no frontage or frontage on the road where the mail would not pass, like we were talking about Blueberry Hill tonight. Mail’s not passing down Blueberry Hill so they’ve got to put it up on Paul Maillard Road. The way the postal service handles those is with cluster boxes, but the way this is written right now, it wouldn’t allow cluster boxes.  The big question is it’s not specified what department would be enforcing it, is it Planning & Zonings enforcing it? It just doesn’t state it and what would the repercussions be because we can’t make people move their mail boxes, we’ve figured that out already.  If people do them wrong, the postal service would not allow us, even with a local judgment to move them.  I’m just trying to figure out how to enforce it.  

Mr. Hogan:  The way to enforce it would be to require that the final building permit not be approved until the mail box is up and in accordance with the parish requirements. We could add that to this to make it a part of the building permit requirements.  As far as the state roads, I don’t want to make this apply to state roads, we don’t have jurisdiction over state roads.  Whatever happens on the state roads, let the state deal with that.  We would be addressing what we do have control over, which is parish roads. I have no problem from changing it from 6-8 inches.

Mr. Matherne:  But if you are regulating mail boxes, it says that mail boxes shall only be allowed within the parish right of ways.

Mr. Hogan:  I’ll just rework the wording to make it where we are regulating what’s in our right of way.  You can put it in state right of way, but we are not regulating state right of way.  We are only regulating what we have the ability to regulate.  

Mr. Booth:  If it is my understanding, we regulate houses being built on state roads. So if we are going to follow the permitting, I would think it would be part of the house and not part of the road.  If we are going to permit someone to build a house, we are going to require them to do what we want in building that house and the mail box is part of that house is what I would think.

Mr. Clulee:  Mr. Chairman, before I vote on this, and send this to the Council and I don’t know how Councilman Cochran feels about it, but I’d like to table this and let Mr. Hogan go change and do the things that he’s got to do and maybe take this up at a later date.

Mr. Hogan: That’s what I would request, to table tonight so that I can get with Earl and hear it at the next meeting.

Mr. Booth:  I personally would like to see whatever the federal postal service regulation is mirror this. I don’t want one day for us to be fighting with the residents of St. Charles Parish who’s cross ways with the federal postal service. So if we can get their regulations and we can mirror that and we could enforce it with the permitting of the house then our parish would benefit from that.  Do I hear a recommendation to table this?  We have a motion and a second and we can vote on that.

YEAS:		Pierre, Foster, Booth, Gibbs, Galliano, Clulee, Johnson 
NAYS:	None 
ABSENT:	None

Mr. Booth:  That’s unanimous. 

Mr. Matherne:  Mr. Booth just so you know, that regulation is 138 pages long, 126 pages of it describes how big a mail box has to be.

Mr. Clulee:  I’m sure that the Council is going to love reading all of that.

Mr. Booth:  I just didn’t want to have our parish get cross way with a resident who then have a problem with the federal government.  Thank you Mr. Hogan.  We have any old business?  We have any new business?  We don’t have any minute, we had a technical difficulty with the recorder and the minutes are being deciphered.

Mr. Clulee:  Motion to adjourn.

Mr. Gibbs:  Second.

Mr. Booth:  Meeting adjourned.
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